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DECISION


Daryl W. Miller is subject to discipline because he pled guilty to wire fraud, a crime 
(1) reasonably related to the functions or duties of a real estate broker; (2) the essential elements of which are fraud and dishonesty; and (3) that involves moral turpitude.
Procedure


On August 4, 2009, the Missouri Real Estate Commission (“MREC”) filed a complaint seeking to discipline Miller.  On September 8, 2009, Miller was personally served with a copy of the complaint and our notice of complaint/notice of hearing.  Miller did not file an answer.


On November 24, 2009, the MREC filed a motion for summary decision based on Miller’s failure to respond to its request for admissions.  On December 10, 2009, Miller filed a request for more time to respond to the motion.  By order dated December 10, 2009, we allowed Miller to withdraw his deemed admissions and gave him until January 4, 2010, to respond to the 
request for admissions and the motion for summary decision.  Miller did not file a response or respond to the request for admissions.

On January 21, 2010, the MREC filed another motion for summary decision, again based on Miller’s failure to respond to its request for admissions.  On January 28, 2010, Miller filed a motion to file his response out of time.  We granted his request by order dated February 1, 2010.

The MREC cites the request for admissions that it served on Miller on October 19, 2009.   Despite the extra time we allowed, Miller did not respond to the request.  His response to the motion for summary decision is his account of the conduct underlying the guilty plea.  He does not dispute that he pled guilty to wire fraud.  Because that is the only conduct we consider in this decision,
 we consider it admitted as set forth in the request for admissions.


Under Supreme Court Rule 59.01, the failure to answer a request for admissions establishes the matters asserted in the request, and no further proof is required.
  Such a deemed admission can establish any fact, or “application of the facts to the law, or the truth of the ultimate issue, opinion or conclusion, so long as the opinion called for is not an abstract proposition of law.”
  That rule applies to all parties, including those acting  pro se.
  Our Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.420(1) applies that rule to this case.  
Findings of Fact

1. Miller was licensed by the MREC as a broker-salesperson for Midwestern Realty.  Miller’s license was at all relevant times current and active.  It became inactive on February 29, 2008, when his former broker cancelled Miller’s license and returned it to the MREC office.  Miller’s license expired on June 30, 2008, when he failed to renew it.
2. On June 9, 2008, Miller pled guilty in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Missouri to count one of the indictment alleging wire fraud in violation of Title 18, United States Code, § 1343.
3. Count I of the indictment reads:
The United States Attorney charges that:
*   *   *

10.  Beginning in approximately June 2006 and continuing until approximately March 2007, within the Eastern District of Missouri and elsewhere, DARYL W. MILLER, the Defendant herein, having devised and intended to devise a scheme to defraud by material falsehoods and to obtain money and property by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations and promises from M.R., NovaStar, R.M.B., Truman Bank, and Commonwealth Land Title Insurance Company did the following
11.  On or about July 1, 2006, Daryl W. Miller, either directly or by using a company he controlled named Midwestern Realty LLC, entered contracts to sell two properties to M.R.  Further, he executed Quit Claim Deeds on these two properties deeding them to M.R.  One of these properties was located at 100 Delord Avenue, Maryland Heights, Missouri.  The other property was located at 3050 West Clay, St. Charles, Missouri.
12.  On or about August 10, 2006, without disclosing that he had already sold or deeded the Delord property to M.R., Daryl W. Miller pledged the property located at 100 Delord Avenue, Maryland Heights, Missouri, as collateral for a $103,900 loan from NovaStar.  As a part of the loan closing process, NovaStar wired $105,168.29 (the loan amount of $103,900 plus various fees and adjustments) to the closing title company’s bank account at Heartland Bank, 212 South Central, Clayton, Missouri.  The closing title company, Cave Springs Title, then sent the loan package to NovaStar shortly after the closing.  Cave Springs Title sent this package to NovaStar using an interstate commercial carrier.
13.  On or about December 22, 2006, without disclosing that he had already sold or deeded the West Clay property to M.R., Daryl W. Miller sold the property located at 3050 West Clay to RMB, Inc.
14.  In order to purchase the West Clay property, R.M.B. obtained a loan from Truman Bank.  Truman Bank was also unaware that Daryl W. Miller had sold or deeded the property to M.R. before he sold it to RMB, Inc.  After Truman Bank funded this loan, wire transfers were sent from Cave Springs Title’s bank account at the Heartland Bank, St. Louis, Missouri, to pay off Miller’s existing loans on the 3050 West Clay property.  Miller’s existing loan on the 3050 West Clay property was held by the Private Bank, St. Louis, Missouri.  Therefore, the relevant wire transfer went from Heartland Bank to the Private Bank.  Even though both the Heartland Bank and the Private Bank were located in St. Louis, Missouri, this wire transfer traveled in interstate commerce through the Federal Reserve Bank’s Fedwire Funds Services.
15.  On or about August 10, 2006, within the Eastern District of Missouri and elsewhere, DARYL W. MILLER, the Defendant herein, having devised and intended to devise a scheme to defraud by material falsehoods and to obtain money and property by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises from M.R., NovaStar, and Commonwealth Land Title Insurance Company did for the purpose of executing this scheme cause to be transmitted by wire, radio, or television communication in interstate commerce certain writings, signs, signals, pictures, or sounds, namely, a wire transfer in the amount of $105,168.29 from NovaStar to Heartland Bank, 212 South Central, Clayton, Missouri, which funded Miller’s refinance of the property located at 100 Delord Avenue, Maryland Heights, Missouri.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343.
4. On October 7, 2008, the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Missouri issued a judgment finding Miller guilty of wire fraud, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, § 1343.  Miller was sentenced to 18 months’ imprisonment, followed by three years of supervised release, and was required to pay an assessment of $100 and restitution of $190,000.
Conclusions of Law 


We have jurisdiction to hear this case.
  The MREC has the burden of proving that Miller has committed an act for which the law allows discipline.

I.  Cause for Discipline


The MREC argues that there is cause for discipline under § 339.100:

2.  The [MREC] may cause a complaint to be filed with the administrative hearing commission as provided by the provisions of chapter 621, RSMo, against any person or entity licensed under this chapter or any licensee who has failed to renew or has surrendered his or her individual or entity license for any one or any combination of the following acts:

*   *   *
(16) Committing any act which would otherwise be grounds for the commission to refuse to issue a license under section 339.040;

*   *   *

(18) Been finally adjudicated and found guilty, or entered a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, in a criminal prosecution under the laws of this state or any other state or of the United States, for any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated under this chapter, for any offense an essential element of which is fraud, dishonesty or an act of violence, or for any offense involving moral turpitude, whether or not sentence is imposed;

(19) Any other conduct which constitutes untrustworthy, improper or fraudulent business dealings, demonstrates bad faith or incompetence, misconduct, or gross negligence[.]

Miller admitted facts and that those facts authorize discipline.  But statutes and case law instruct that we must “separately and independently” determine whether such facts constitute cause for discipline.
  Therefore, we independently assess whether the facts admitted allow discipline under the law cited.


Miller pled guilty to the crime of fraud by wire, radio, or television, as set forth at 
18 U.S.C. § 1343:
Whoever, having devised or intending to devise any scheme or artifice to defraud, or for obtaining money or property by means of 
false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises, transmits or causes to be transmitted by means of wire, radio, or television communication in interstate or foreign commerce, any writings, signs, signals, pictures, or sounds for the purpose of executing such scheme or artifice, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than 20 years or both.  If the violation affects a financial institution, such person shall be fined not more than $1,000,000 or imprisoned not more than 30 years, or both.

A.  Grounds to Refuse a License – Subdivision (16)


Section 339.040 states:

1.  Licenses shall be granted only to persons who present, and corporations, associations or partnerships whose officers, associates, or partners present, satisfactory proof to the commission that they:

(1) Are persons of good moral character; and

(2) Bear a good reputation for honesty, integrity, and fair dealing; and

(3) Are competent to transact the business of a broker or salesperson in such a manner as to safeguard the

interest of the public.
The MREC’s complaint alleges only the conduct of pleading guilty to the criminal offense, not that Miller committed the underlying conduct.  We cannot find discipline for uncharged conduct.
  Merely pleading guilty to the criminal offense does not show that a licensee lacks good moral character or a good reputation and does not show that he lacks competence to transact business.  We find no cause for discipline under § 339.100.2(16).

B.  Criminal Offense – Subdivision (18)
1. Reasonably Related to Qualifications, Functions and Duties

Section 339.010 provides:


1.  A "real estate broker" is any person . . . who, for another, and for a compensation or valuable consideration, does, or attempts to do, any or all of the following:


(1) Sells, exchanges, purchases, rents, or leases real estate;


(2) Offers to sell, exchange, purchase, rent or lease real estate;


(3) Negotiates or offers or agrees to negotiate the sale, exchange, purchase, rental or leasing of real estate;


(4) Lists or offers or agrees to list real estate for sale, lease, rental or exchange;


(5) Buys, sells, offers to buy or sell or otherwise deals in options on real estate or improvements thereon;


(6) Advertises or holds himself or herself out as a licensed real estate broker while engaged in the business of buying, selling, exchanging, renting, or leasing real estate;


(7) Assists or directs in the procuring of prospects, calculated to result in the sale, exchange, leasing or rental of real estate;


(8) Assists or directs in the negotiation of any transaction calculated or intended to result in the sale, exchange, leasing or rental of real estate;


(9) Engages in the business of charging to an unlicensed person an advance fee in connection with any contract whereby the real estate broker undertakes to promote the sale of that person's real estate through its listing in a publication issued for such purpose intended to be circulated to the general public;


(10) Performs any of the foregoing acts on behalf of the owner of real estate, or interest therein, or improvements affixed thereon, for compensation.
We agree that the crime of wire fraud is an offense that is reasonably related to the functions or duties of a real estate broker.  There is cause for discipline under § 339.100.2(18).
2.  Essential Element


An essential element is one that must be proven for a conviction in every case.
  Fraud is an intentional perversion of truth to induce another, in reliance on it, to part with some valuable 
thing belonging to him.
  It necessarily includes dishonesty, which is a lack of integrity or a disposition to defraud or deceive.
 


Fraud and dishonesty are essential elements of the criminal offense of wire fraud.  There is cause for discipline under § 339.100.2(18). 
3.  Moral Turpitude

Moral turpitude is:

an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowman or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty between man and man; everything “done contrary to justice, honesty, modesty, and good morals.”[
]

In Brehe v. Missouri Dep’t of Elementary and Secondary Education,
 213 S.W.3d 720 (Mo. App., W.D. 2007), a case that involved discipline of a teacher’s certificate under § 168.071 for committing a crime involving moral turpitude, the court referred to three classifications of crimes:

(1) crimes that necessarily involve moral turpitude, such as frauds (Category 1 crimes);

(2) crimes “so obviously petty that conviction carries no suggestion of moral turpitude,” such as illegal parking (Category 2 crimes); and

(3) crimes that “may be saturated with moral turpitude,” yet do not involve it necessarily, such as willful failure to pay income tax or refusal to answer questions before a congressional committee (Category 3 crimes).

The court stated that Category 3 crimes require consideration of “the related factual circumstances” of the offense to determine whether moral turpitude is involved.


We find that the crime of wire fraud, with the essential elements of fraud and dishonesty, is a Category 1 crime.
  There is cause for discipline under § 339.100.2(18).

C.  Other Conduct – Subdivision (19)


The MREC argues that Miller is subject to discipline under § 339.100.2(19) for “any other conduct which constitutes untrustworthy, improper or fraudulent business dealings or demonstrates bad faith or gross incompetence[.]”  The adjective “other” means “not the same : DIFFERENT, any [other] man would  have done better[.]”
  Therefore, subdivision (19) refers to conduct different than referred to in the remaining subdivisions of the statute.


We have found that the conduct at issue is cause for discipline under § 339.100.2(18).  There is no “other” conduct.  Therefore, we find no cause for discipline under § 339.100.2(19).
II.  Miller’s Response

In his response to the motion for summary decision, Miller includes a detailed description of his conduct underlying the guilty plea.  He asks that we consider this and his efforts at rehabilitation.  This Commission determines only whether there is cause for discipline under the facts and law asserted by the licensing agency.  The MREC will hold a hearing to determine the level of discipline to impose.  Miller may make his arguments at that hearing.

Summary

There is cause for discipline under § 339.100.2(18).  There is no cause for discipline under § 339.100.2(16) or (19).  We cancel the hearing.

SO ORDERED on March 4, 2010.



________________________________



JOHN J. KOPP



Commissioner
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